IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 91,894

CLERK, SUPREME COURT By_____

Chief Deputy Clerk

DIRK FRANZEN, M.D. and DIRK FRANZEN, M.D., P.A.,

Petitioners,

v.

HENRY E. MOGLER and DONNA MOGLER,

Respondents.

ON PETITION FOR REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL FOURTH DISTRICT CASE NO: 96-2356

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

BOBO, SPICER, CIOTOLI, FULFORD BOCCHINO, DEBEVOISE and LE CLAINCHE Esperante, Sixth Floor 222 Lakeview Avenue West Palm Beach, FL 33401 HICKS & ANDERSON, P.A. New World Tower - Suite 2402 100 North Biscayne Blvd. Miami, FL 33132 Tel: (305) 374-8171

Attorneys for Petitioners

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This action arises from an arbitration award in favor of the Respondents, Henry and Donna Mogler ("the Moglers"), in a wrongful death case arising out of medical malpractice.

The decedent, Michael Mogler, the Moglers' minor son, was treated by Petitioner, Dirk Franzen, M.D. ("Dr. Franzen"). Michael Mogler died on February 16, 1993. Thereafter, the Moglers served a Notice of Intent to Initiate Litigation on Dr. Franzen and his Professional Association, claiming that Dr. Franzen had committed medical malpractice which resulted in Michael's death. The Notice of Intent was sent pursuant to Florida Statute § 766.106(2) on behalf of the Estate of Michael Mogler and the Moglers individually as the surviving parents. In response, Dr. Franzen offered to submit the issue of damages to voluntary binding arbitration, pursuant to Section 766.207, Fla. Stat., contingent upon the limitation of general damages provided for in that statute. The Moglers accepted this offer of arbitration unconditionally.

During arbitration discovery, a dispute arose as to the damages recoverable in the upcoming arbitration proceeding. <u>See Mogler v. Franzen</u>, 669 So. 2d 269 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996). Dr. Franzen filed a declaratory action seeking a determination that psychiatric care and treatment for the parents of a deceased child were not recoverable elements of economic damages in the arbitration of a wrongful death claim based on medical malpractice. <u>Id</u>. at 270. The circuit court, finding that it had jurisdiction, resolved this question in favor of Dr. Franzen. The Fourth District reversed,

finding that the trial court had no jurisdiction to consider the issue prior to arbitration. <u>Id</u>. at 271. Although recognizing Dr. Franzen's argument that an arbitration award is subject to judicial appellate review pursuant to Sections 766.212(1) and 120.68, the Fourth District nevertheless found that declaratory relief was not available to a party prior to the rendering of an arbitration award. <u>Id</u>.

This wrongful death claim was thereafter arbitrated on June 3 and 4, 1996. (R. 267). Dr. Franzen's position at arbitration, consistent with his position in both the declaratory action and first appeal, was that the Moglers' claim for damages resulting from Michael's death was governed by the Wrongful Death Act. (T. 342). Dr. Franzen contended that since the Medical Malpractice Act's arbitration provisions merely provided a procedural alternative to a jury trial, the damages circumscribed by the Wrongful Death Act had to be applied in awarding damages in voluntary arbitration proceedings, pursuant to the Medical Malpractice Act, involving a wrongful death. (R. 121; T. 335, 342).

Thus, Dr. Franzen argued that the Moglers were not entitled to recover the expense of psychiatric treatment or Donna Mogler's lost wages; that Donna and Henry could not recover for loss of support and services because they could not satisfy the applicable criteria for such an award; and that there was no viable claim here for Michael's lost wages and/or the estate's net accumulations.¹ (T. 342, 344, 349).

¹On the issue of noneconomic damages, Dr. Franzen argued that the \$250,000 limit on noneconomic damages could be applied only once, since there was only one medical incident at issue.

The Moglers took the opposite position at arbitration. Although seeking recovery for a wrongful death claim, the Moglers argued that the Wrongful Death Act did not apply. Instead, they claimed that they were not limited to the damages provided in Section 768.21², but rather were entitled to a completely separate scheme of damages solely because the damages were being assessed at arbitration rather than at trial. (T. 251).

In this connection, the Moglers argued that they were entitled to economic damages consisting of their own past and future psychiatric care, Donna Mogler's lost wages, and both parents' loss of support and services. (T. 9,313, 317). Furthermore, they contended that Michael's estate should recover Michael's future lost wages, with no deduction for living expenses. The Moglers also argued that the \$250,000 per-incident-cap on noneconomic damages provided by Section 766.207(7)(b) should be applied three times. (T. 367)(T. 315-316). Under the Moglers' theory, Henry Mogler, Donna Mogler, and the Estate of Michael Mogler were each "claimants" under Section 766.202(1), and were each entitled to an award of \$250,000 in noneconomic damages. (T. 310-311).

The final arbitration award, entered on June 27, 1996, essentially tracked the Moglers' position. (R. 267). This award provided:

1. HENRY E. MOGLER

| a. | for non-economic damages | |
|----|--------------------------|--------------|
| | (past and future): | \$250,000.00 |
| b. | past medical expenses: | \$ 9,125.00 |
| с. | future medical expenses: | \$ 29,750.00 |
| | - | |

² Section 768.21 delineates the <u>only</u> damages that are recoverable in a wrongful death action.

| d. | past wage loss: | \$ | 0 |
|----|------------------|---------|---------------------|
| e. | loss of service: | \$ 2,52 | <u>21.00</u> (past) |
| | | \$ 5,42 | 29.00 (future) |

2. DONNA L. MOGLER

| <u>5 5,429.00</u> (future) | d. past wage loss: <u>\$ 57,636.00</u> | a. b. c. d. e. | | \$ 57,636.00 | |
|---|---|----------------------------|--------------------------|--------------|--|
| | | e. | loss of service: | | |
| e. loss of service: <u>\$ 2,521.00</u> (past) | | с. | | \$ 46,000.00 | |
| <pre>c. future medical expenses: \$ 46,000.00 d. past wage loss: \$ 57,636.00 e. loss of service: \$ 2,521.00 (past)</pre> | | b. | past medical expenses: | \$ 46,593.00 | |
| b. past medical expenses: \$ 46,593.00 c. future medical expenses: \$ 46,000.00 d. past wage loss: \$ 57,636.00 e. loss of service: \$ 2,521.00 | b. past medical expenses: <u>\$ 46,593.00</u> | a. | | \$250,000.00 | |
| <pre>(past and future): \$250,000.00 b. past medical expenses: \$46,593.00 c. future medical expenses: \$46,000.00 d. past wage loss: \$57,636.00 e. loss of service: \$2,521.00 (past)</pre> | (past and future): <u>\$250,000.00</u> b. past medical expenses: <u>\$ 46,593.00</u> | ~ | for non oconomia domocoa | | |

3. ESTATE OF MICHAEL GLENN MOGLER

| a. | for non-economic damage | s |
|----|-------------------------|-----------------------|
| | (past and future): | <u>s</u> 0 |
| b. | funeral bills: | <u>\$ 1,756.00</u> |
| с. | cemetery lot: | <u>\$ 250.00</u> |
| d. | medical bills: | <u>\$ 5,084.00</u> |
| e. | wage loss of | |
| | Michael Mogler: | <u>\$388,272.00</u> |
| | TOTAL | <u>\$1,405,627.00</u> |

Arbitrator Adams filed a dissent, which adopted Dr. Franzen's position. (R. 271).

Dr. Franzen appealed from the arbitration award urging that the arbitrators' assessment of economic damages had to be set aside because the arbitrators failed to apply the damage provisions of the Wrongful Death Act.³ In this regard, Dr. Franzen argued that this was a case of medical negligence resulting in the wrongful death of Michael Mogler and thus the Medical Malpractice Act had to be read in conjunction with the Wrongful Death Act (i.e., the Medical Malpractice Act affords the law of the underlying tort while the Wrongful Death Act supplies the cause of action and the law regarding damages). Thus, according to Dr. Franzen, the

³Dr. Franzen also argued that for non-economic damages that the award had to be set aside because only one section 766.207(7) limit applied to this single medical incident.

arbitrators' failure to apply these statutes together resulted in an economic damage award never before contemplated, or intended, by the legislature for this type of claim.

The Moglers, for their part, contended that the Wrongful Death Act's damages provisions did not apply to this medical malpractice voluntary arbitration proceeding.

On July 30, 1997, the Fourth District issued its decisions in the instant case⁴ and <u>St. Mary's Hosp. v. Phillipe</u>, 699 So. 2d 1017 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997), a companion appeal raising similar issues. (App. 1, 2). Relying exclusively on its decision in <u>Phillipe</u>, the Fourth District affirmed the arbitration award "on the economic damage issue because we have concluded that such damages are controlled by the Medical Malpractice Act and not by the Wrongful Death Act."⁵ (App. 2). Dr. Franzen's motions for rehearing, rehearing en banc and certification of the economic damage issue, were summarily denied. (App. 3).

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has jurisdiction based on conflict because the Fourth District's ruling that the economic damages at issue are controlled by the Medical Malpractice Act misapplies the law.

The Fourth District's discussion and erroneous finding that the Medical Malpractice Act controls the issue of economic damages in a voluntary arbitration of a wrongful death claim creates an express and direct conflict which has long been recognized as a

⁴699 So. 2d 1026 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997).

⁵The Fourth District reversed the noneconomic damage award, concluding that "the \$250,000 limit does not apply to each claimant but, as the statute itself says, to each incident." <u>Id</u>. at 1026.

basis for exercising this court's discretionary jurisdiction. <u>See</u> <u>Gibson v. Avis Rent-A-Car System, Inc.</u>, 386 So. 2d 520 (Fla. 1980) (Supreme Court has jurisdiction based on conflict where district court misapplies the law).

This Court and other district courts have clearly mandated that "statutes which relate to the same or to a closely related subject or object are regarded as in pari materia and should be construed together and compared with each other." <u>Smith v.</u> <u>Crawford</u>, 645 So. 2d 513, 522 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994), <u>quoting Ferquson</u> <u>v. State</u>, 377 So. 2d 709, 710 (Fla. 1979). The failure of the Fourth District to construe the economic damage provisions of the Medical Malpractice Act in conjunction with Wrongful Death Act clearly ignores the mandates of this Court. Accordingly, conflict is apparent and this court has jurisdiction. <u>See Rinker Materials</u> <u>Corp. v. City of North Miami</u>, 286 So. 2d 552 (Fla. 1973) (misapplication of established rules of statutory construction is clear basis of conflict).

This case also conflicts with the First District's decision in <u>Horton v. Channing</u>, 698 So. 2d 865 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997), which held that damages for wrongful death actions resulting from medical negligence are dictated by section 768.21 of the Wrongful Death Act. To the extent that the Fourth District has held that the Wrongful Death Act does not control claims for economic damages in cases where voluntary arbitration is <u>not</u> involved, then the decision in this case directly conflicts with the First District's opinion in <u>Horton</u>, which applied the Wrongful Death Act and its damages provisions to a medical malpractice case.

Finally, this issue and case have been consolidated with Case No. 91,934 in which the Fourth District certified the following as an issue of great public importance:

> When the alleged medical negligence results in the death of a patient, does the cap on noneconomic damages of \$250,000 per incident in a voluntary arbitration under 766.207 apply to each beneficiary under the Wrongful Death Act, or does the \$250,000 cap apply in the aggregate to include all Wrongful Death Act beneficiaries?

(App. 4). The law is clear that having accepted jurisdiction to answer a certified question, this Court may then review the entire case for error. <u>See Ocean Trail Unit Owners Assoc., Inc. v. Mead</u>, 650 So. 2d 4, 6 (Fla. 1994) ("having accepted jurisdiction to answer the certified question, we may review the entire record for error. <u>Lawrence v. Florida E. Coast Ry.</u>, 346 So. 2d 102 (Fla. 1977).").

Dr. Franzen submits that the issue at bar should be reviewed for error because the Fourth District's holding that the Medical Malpractice Act -- and not the Wrongful Death Act -- controls on the issue of economic damages in voluntary arbitration has farreaching implications for alleged victims of medical malpractice, health care providers, professional liability insurers, and both sides of the medical malpractice bar. The Medical Malpractice Act's voluntary arbitration provisions were indisputably enacted to encourage prompt, cost-effective, extra-judicial resolution of malpractice claims because of the legislature's conclusion that the "medical malpractice insurance crisis constitutes extant an 'overpowering public necessity'." University of Miami v. Echarte, 618 So. 2d 189, 198 (Fla. 1993). However, potential malpractice defendants and insurers will undoubtedly -their and

understandably -- be reluctant to initiate or accept voluntary arbitration as an alternative to judicial resolution of the incipient dispute where doing so will expose them to liability for elements of damages which heretofore have never been sanctioned by either the courts or the legislature.

In addition, the basis for the Fourth District's holding in <u>Phillipe</u>, that the Wrongful Death Act must yield to the Medical Malpractice Act on the issue of economic damages in voluntary arbitration, is that the Medical Malpractice Act, in two provisions, authorizes an award for lost earning capacity. These provisions and others in the Medical Malpractice Act, however, do not express a specific legislative intent to override or otherwise supplant the Wrongful Death Act or the long line of cases interpreting the same. Consequently, this Court should issue a definitive ruling on whether the Medical Malpractice Act, and not the Wrongful Death Act, controls economic damage awards in voluntary arbitration proceedings involving the death of a patient.

POINT ON REVIEW

WHETHER ECONOMIC DAMAGES AWARDABLE IN VOLUNTARY BINDING ARBITRATIONS OF WRONGFUL DEATH CLAIMS ARISING FROM MEDICAL NEGLIGENCE ARE CONTROLLED BY THE WRONGFUL DEATH ACT

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The economic damage portion of the Fourth District's opinion must be quashed because the court erroneously found that such damages in a voluntary medical malpractice arbitration resulting from a claim for wrongful death are controlled by the Medical Malpractice Act and not by the Wrongful Death Act.

This is a wrongful death case which resulted from negligent

medical treatment rendered to Michael Mogler. Accordingly, the Medical Malpractice Act and the Wrongful Death Act must be read in conjunction with one another. The Medical Malpractice Act affords the law of the underlying tort, including the statutes and procedures to be followed in maintaining a cause of action; the Wrongful Death Act supplies the proper parties to the cause of action and dictates the law of damages. Thus, the Fourth District's failure to apply these statutes together resulted in an economic damage award never before contemplated, or intended, by the legislature for this type of claim. Its decision therefore should be guashed.

ARGUMENT

ECONOMIC DAMAGES AWARDABLE IN VOLUNTARY BINDING ARBITRATIONS OF WRONGFUL DEATH CLAIMS ARISING FROM MEDICAL NEGLIGENCE ARE CONTROLLED BY THE WRONGFUL DEATH ACT

The Fourth District's affirmance of the arbitrators' economic damage award must be quashed because the court misinterpreted and misapplied the applicable law.

The Fourth District affirmed the arbitrators' economic damages award in this case because two provisions of the Medical Malpractice Act appear to authorize the recovery of such financial losses. Specifically, Section 766.202(3) defines "economic damages" as:

> Financial losses which would not have occurred but for the injury giving rise to the cause of action, including, but not limited to, past and future medical expenses and 80% of wage loss and loss of earning capacity.

Section 766.207(7)(a), in turn provides that:

(7) Arbitration pursuant to this Section shall preclude

recourse to any other remedy by the claimant against any participating defendant, and shall be undertaken with the understanding that:

(a) Net economic damages shall be awardable, including, but not limited to, past and future medical expenses and 80 percent of wage loss and loss of earning capacity, offset by any collateral source payments.

Dr. Franzen submits, respectfully, that the Fourth District erred as a matter of law by taking the <u>limitations</u> on damages imposed by Sections 766.202(3) and 766.207(7)(a) and turning them into items of damages to be awarded.

Furthermore, the Medical Malpractice Act's limitations on damages are not only applicable in voluntary arbitration proceedings, but they are applicable at trial as well. Section 766.209(4) provides:

(4) If the claimant rejects a defendant's offer to enter voluntary binding arbitration:

(a) The damages awardable at trial shall be limited to net economic damages, plus noneconomic damages not to exceed \$350,000 per incident.

(b) Net economic damages reduced to present value shall be awardable, including, but not limited to, past and future medical expenses and 80 percent of wage loss and loss of earning capacity, offset by any collateral source payments.

This language describing the manner in which economic damages are to be awarded <u>at trial</u> when a claimant rejects an offer to voluntarily arbitrate, is identical to the language used to describe the manner in which economic damages may be awarded at arbitration. Surely, the legislature did not intend, with the passage of the Medical Malpractice Act, to drastically alter the types of economic damages awardable in wrongful death cases where a claimant rejects a defendant's offer to voluntarily arbitrate. Thus, the Fourth District's rationale can not be sanctioned by this Court.

A. The Wrongful Death Act, not the Medical Malpractice Act, dictates what damages are applicable to this claim.

Because this case arose out of medical malpractice which caused Michael Mogler's wrongful death, the Wrongful Death Act created the right of action, dictated the proper party to bring the action, and delineated the applicable damages. <u>Wade v. Alamo Rent-A-Car, Inc.</u>, 510 So. 2d 642, 643 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987) ("we look to the [wrongful death] statute alone to discover who can recover and what may be recovered.") (emphasis in original). On the other hand, the Medical Malpractice Act supplies the underlying law, statutes and procedures to be followed in maintaining a cause based upon medical malpractice. Dr. Franzen submits that these statutes work hand in hand; the Wrongful Death Act creates a right of action (that in common law perished when the decedent died) and the Medical Malpractice Act supplies the law for the underlying tort which gave rise to the death.

Indeed, even the Fourth District <u>in this case</u> applied these chapters concurrently when explaining its decision on the limit on non-economic damages. On rehearing, the Fourth District stated that:

> The Medical Malpractice Act [MMA] defines claimant as 'any person who has a cause of action arising from medical negligence.' § 766.202(1) Fla. Stat. (1995). Except for the fact of his death, [Michael Mogler] could have stated a cause of action arising from medical negligence. In view of his death, however, <u>it</u> <u>is necessary to turn to the Wrongful Death Act</u>

[WDA], which states that '[w]hen a personal injury to the decedent results in his death, no action for the personal injury shall survive.' § 768.20 Fla. Stat. (1995). WDA goes on to provide that:

'When the death of a person is caused by the wrongful act, [or] negligence . . . of any person, ... and the event would have entitled the person injured to maintain an action and recover damages if death had not ensued, the person . that would have been liable in damages if death had not ensued shall be liable for damages as specified in this act notwithstanding the death of the person injured . . ."

§ 768.19 Fla. Stat. (1995).

* * *

WDA also specifies the kind of damages recoverable for each beneficiary entitled to damages. § 768.21(1)-(8), Fla. Stat. (1995)

* * *

<u>As we read both acts</u>, the only person with a claim arising from medical negligence in this case was the person who suffered the breach from the prevailing professional standard of care by the doctor. § 766.102(1), Fla. Stat. (1995) (footnotes omitted).

Franzen v. Mogler, 22 Fla. L. Weekly D 2451 (Fla. 4th DCA Oct. 22, 1997).⁶ Thus, the Fourth District clearly erred when it changed its position that these statutes work together for purposes of noneconomic damages and found that claims for economic damages in cases such as this are controlled by the Medical Malpractice Act and not by the Wrongful Death Act. <u>Franzen v. Mogler</u>, 699 So. 2d at 1026.

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