IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ST. MARY'S HOSPITAL, INC. and WOMEN'S HEALTH SERVICES, INC.,

CLERK, SUPRIEME COURT Chief Beputy Clerk

Petitioners,

CASE NO. 91,895

4DCA CASE NOS. 96-2321

96-2971

96-3320

vs.

CHARLES PHILLIPE, individually and as statutory survivor and as Personal Representative of the Estate of JUSLIN PHILLIPE, deceased, and all statutory survivors of JUSLIN PHILLIPE, deceased,

Respondents.

CHARLES PHILLIPE, individually and as statutory survivor and as Personal Representative of the Estate of JUSLIN PHILLIPE, deceased, and all statutory survivors of JUSLIN PHILLIPE, deceased,

Petitioners,

VS.

CASE NO. 91,896 4DCA CASE NOS. 96-2321 96-2971

96-3320

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Defendants' statement of the case and facts is essentially correct, but largely irrelevant. Most of their factual statement

pertains to the decedent's youngest child, Ecclesianne, and her care. Those facts are irrelevant.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The decedent's surviving husband and children and her Estate advised defendants of their claims for medical malpractice, arising from their treatment of their wife and mother, which resulted in her death. The parties agreed to voluntary binding arbitration under the Medical Malpractice Act. Following entry of the arbitration award, defendants requested a stay, based solely on the possibility that they might have difficulty recovering the money from plaintiffs if defendants prevailed on appeal. The Fourth District correctly applied section 766.212(2) and denied the stay because defendants failed to demonstrate "manifest injustice." The statutory stay provision is constitutional and comports with the legislative intent to require prompt payment of arbitration awards.

By agreeing to binding arbitration, the parties elected to have the claims determined by sections 766.201-766.212 and gave the arbitrators sole authority to determine their recoverable damages. See Mogler v. Franzen, 669 So. 2d 269, 271 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995). The Fourth District erroneously exceeded the statutory scope of review in analyzing the recoverable economic damages and the awards of noneconomic damages to each claimant.

If reviewable, the awards required affirmance. Defendants inconsistently invoke limitations and remedies of the Medical Malpractice and Wrongful Death Acts that suit them. They contend they are entitled to the limitations on noneconomic damages provided in section 766.207, but ignore that same statute's provision regarding economic damages. The legislature went to great lengths in the Medical Malpractice Act to define the economic and noneconomic damages a claimant can recover in a medical malpractice action where the parties voluntarily agree to binding arbitration. The Fourth District correctly held that the Medical Malpractice Act exclusively governs the claimant's damages when the parties agree to arbitrate under the Act.

The Fourth District incorrectly determined, however, that the cap on noneconomic damages applies in the aggregate to the patient and not separately to each claimant. The arbitrators correctly interpreted section 766.207(7)(b) as affording noneconomic damages to each claimant. As stated in section 766.102(1), the Medical Malpractice Act applies to "any action for recovery of damages based on death or personal injury of any person in which it has alleged that such death or injury resulted from the negligence of the health care provider...." There are two types of medical malpractice actions -- those based on personal injury and those based on death. In personal injury claims, the patient has a claim

to recover damages for personal injuries and medical expenses; the patient's spouse and children have separate causes of action for loss of consortium. Where the patient dies, the personal representative of the estate has a cause of action for the patient's/decedent's personal injuries and medical expenses; the patient's/decedent's survivors have separate causes of action for their damages. The statute clearly places a cap on each claimant's cause of action regardless of who brings the claim.

Defendants agreed to admit liability and arbitrate damages and must accept the ramifications of their choice. That portion of the arbitration award affirming the measure of damages under the Medical Malpractice Act should be approved. That portion holding that the statutory cap on noneconomic damages applies in the aggregate rather than to each claimant should be disapproved and the case remanded with directions to reinstate the arbitration award.

ARGUMENT

STANDARD AND SCOPE OF REVIEW

Plaintiffs submit that this Court should not address either certified question, except to hold that these issues were for the arbitrators to decide, requiring reinstatement of the arbitration award. Section 766.212(1), Florida Statutes, sets forth the

standard of review in medical malpractice arbitration and limits appellate review of arbitration awards to "[t]he amount of an arbitration award..., the evidence in support of [the arbitration award], and the procedure by which [the arbitration award] is determined...." The Fourth District misinterpreted this standard and exceeded the statutory scope of review by delving into matters inherent to binding arbitration -- the recoverable economic damages and the cap on noneconomic damages (A 2, p. 6).

The \$250,000 statutory cap on noneconomic damages is not an aspect of the amount of the award, but an intrinsic aspect of the arbitration itself. The existence of this cap sets arbitration apart from trial. The arbitrators' alleged error involved their interpretation of section 766.207(7)(a) and (b), not the amount of the arbitration award. Thus, the recoverable economic damages and the caps on noneconomic damages are unreviewable as the arbitration award was within the scope of the submission and the procedures comported with sections 766.201-766.212. See Schnurmacher Holding, Inc. v. Noriega, 542 So. 2d 1327, 1328-1329 (Fla. 1989).

The legislature plainly and deliberately limited appellate review in medical malpractice arbitration to the amount of the arbitration award, the evidence in support of that amount, and the procedures by which the arbitrators determined the amount.

<u>See</u> §766.212(1), Fla. Stat. This limitation comports with the nature of arbitration. The Fourth District erroneously created a much broader standard of review and essentially imposed the same standard for arbitration proceedings as for trial, defeating any advantage to arbitration.

The Fourth District's interpretation of section 766.212(1) as affording a "hybrid" form of limited review of malpractice arbitration awards conflicts with University of Miami v. Echarte, 618 So. 2d 189, 194 (Fla.), cert. denied, 510 U.S. 915 (1993), where this Court defined the standard of review as "limited appellate review of the arbitration award requiring a showing of <u>'manifest injustice'</u>." (Emphasis added). This Court further held that an agreement to arbitrate under section 766.207 "binds both parties to the arbitration panel's decision and precludes other remedies by the claimant against the defendant." Id. at 193. Fourth District's interpretation also conflicts with Santelli v. Arean, 616 So. 2d 1154 (Fla. 2d DCA), rev. denied, 624 So. 2d 268 (Fla. 1993), which held that claimants who agreed to voluntary binding arbitration under section 766.207 were precluded from challenging the constitutionality of the cap on noneconomic damages, even where the only cases on point at that time had held the cap unconstitutional.

The Fourth District's interpretation of the standard of review in section 766.212(1) ignores its plain language and the nature of the proceeding -- voluntary binding arbitration. The Fourth District exceeded the statutory standard of review, requiring disapproval of its opinion and reinstatement of the arbitration award.

POINT I ON CERTIFIED QUESTION

SECTION 766.212(2) IS CONSTITUTIONAL AND DOES NOT INFRINGE ON THE SUPREME COURT'S RULE-MAKING AUTHORITY.

A. Section 766.212(2) does not usurp the Supreme Court's rule making authority.

In dealing with the overall constitutionality of the Medical Malpractice Arbitration Statutes, this Court in Echarte recognized that the legislature tailored a unique scheme with "a different solution to solve the [medical malpractice insurance liability] crisis." Echarte, 618 So. 2d at 195. Prompt payment of the arbitration award and limited stays where a party demonstrates "manifest injustice" are part "of the trade-offs for claimants who give up their right to a trial by jury and agreed arbitration." See St. Mary's Hosp., Inc. v. Phillipe, 699 So. 2d 1017, 1020 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997) (A , p. 3).

When defendants agreed to voluntary binding arbitration, they agreed to adhere to the arbitration rules as set forth in Chapter 766 and Florida Administrative Code Chapter 60Q-3 (R 001). Section 766.212(2), Florida Statutes, limits stays in voluntary arbitration proceedings to instances where necessary "to prevent manifest injustice," This section is the exclusive method for stay in medical malpractice arbitration cases and is an exception to the general rule set forth in Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.310(b)(1), which authorizes an automatic stay on money judgments by posting a bond.

This analysis comports with Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.310(a) which provides, "[elxcept as provided by general law and in subdivision (b) of this rule," (emphasis added). An arbitration award is not a judgment solely for the payment of money. It encompasses underlying concessions by both parties, preliminary to the arbitrators considering the financial issues. Under the rule and the statute, the automatic stay provision in 9.310(b)(1) is inapplicable.

Modification of the stay provisions in the appellate rule is not unique to medical malpractice proceedings. In fact, section 120.68, the rule the legislature referenced in section 766.212, contains unique stay provisions applicable to final administrative

action. §120.68(3), Fla. Stat. As the Fourth District recognized in its opinion below, the legislature modified the substantive right to stay pending review of final agency action and limited it to instances where the agency order has the effect of suspending or revoking a license. The language in section 766.212(2), according to the Fourth District made "it ... clear that in section 120.68 the legislature has considered the question of which agency orders should be subject to a stay as of right, and has just as clearly provided in section 766.212 that no such right should be given."

Phillipe, 699 So. 2d at 1020. (A , p. 2).

Defendants' claim that prompt payment of the arbitration award pending appeal constitutes "manifest injustice." This argument begs the question and ignores the trade-offs inherent in the Medical Malpractice Act. Prompt payment of the arbitration award in this context is a substantive right afforded to the claimant and a legislative declaration of public policy. As this Court recognized in Echarte, 618 So. 2d at 196, "[t]he Legislature has the final word on declarations of public policy, and the courts are bound to give great weight to legislative determinations of fact." [Citation omitted].

Allowing a defendant to avoid payment of the arbitration award pending appeal in this context thwarts the legislature's

intent and eliminates a significant benefit afforded claimants in medical malpractice arbitration. The Fourth District correctly applied the stay provisions from interpreted and This Court should approve this aspect of the Fourth 766.212(2). opinion hold that section 766.212(2) District's and is constitutional.

B. The statute is constitutional as applied where the claimant obtains a final judgment following entry of the arbitration award.

When the defendants agreed to arbitration, they expressly agreed "that a judgment of the Court having jurisdiction of this matter may be entered on the arbitration award...." (R 001). This agreement comported with section 766.212(4), Florida Statutes, which provides that where the claimant establishes the authenticity of the arbitration award, shows that the time for appeal has expired and demonstrates that the no stay is in place, the court shall enter "such orders and judgments as are required to carry out the terms of the arbitration award ... and execution will issue, upon the request of a party, for such judgments." (Emphasis added). See also Fla.Admin. Code R. 60Q-3.005(1) (same). Plaintiffs established the authenticity of the arbitration award, that the time for appeal had expired and that the no stay was in place, entitling them to a final judgment on the arbitration award.

The legislature permitted entry of a judgment as a means to protect the claimant pending appeal, not as a means to modify the stay provisions in the same statute. There is no legislative intent to abrogate prompt payment of the award pending appeal absent a showing of "manifest injustice."

Defendants knew from the moment they agreed to arbitrate this case that if plaintiffs prevailed in arbitration, defendants would be required to immediately pay the award or demonstrate "manifest injustice" and that plaintiffs would be entitled to entry of judgment on the arbitration award. The Fourth District correctly applied and enforced section 766.212(2), in denying defendants' stay upon the posting of a bond. This Court should approve this portion of the Fourth District's opinion.

POINT II

ECONOMIC DAMAGES AWARDABLE IN VOLUNTARY BINDING ARBITRATIONS OF MEDICAL MALPRACTICE ACTIONS WHERE THE MEDICAL NEGLIGENCE RESULTS IN THE DEATH OF A PATIENT ARE CONTROLLED BY THE MEDICAL MALPRACTICE ACT.

The arbitrators properly awarded damages pursuant to section 766.207, Florida Statutes, because the Medical Malpractice Act and not the Wrongful Death Act provides the exclusive remedies for medical malpractice when the parties agree to arbitrate.

Defendants ignore that the arbitration provisions of the Medical Malpractice Act provide exclusive remedies where a health care provider, engaged in providing services involving the exercise of medical judgment, causes personal injuries or death. See Echarte, 618 So. 2d at 195; Porter v. Rosenberg, 650 So. 2d 79, 82 (Fla. 4th DCA), rev. denied, 661 So. 2d 825 (Fla. 1995).

In enacting the Medical Malpractice Act, the legislature adopted a <u>new scheme</u> of remedies and included specific elements of economic damages, including an 80% limit on some economic damages, setoffs for future collateral sources, and restrictions on noneconomic damages. The plain language of section 766.207(7)(a) demonstrates the legislature's intent to alter the damages awardable in medical malpractice cases where the parties agree to arbitrate. §766.207(7)(a), Fla. Stat.

That courts in other cases have applied wrongful death damages in medical malpractice cases is irrelevant because the parties there had not agreed to arbitrate. When faced with that precise issue in other contexts, however, courts have upheld the exclusive nature of the particular statutory remedy, even where the wrong resulted in death.

In <u>Beverly Enterprises-Florida</u>, Inc. v. Spilman, 661 So. 2d 867 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995), rev. denied, 668 So. 2d 602 (Fla. 1996), defendants made the identical argument defendants make here, but in the context of the Nursing Home Act, section 400.023, Florida Statutes. Like the arbitration provisions of the Medical Malpractice Act, the Nursing Home Act affords remedies not permitted under the Wrongful Death Act, i.e. damages for the decedent's physical pain and mental suffering. Defendants in Spilman contended that the Wrongful Death Act controlled the nature and measure of damages where a person died as a result of the deprivation of his or her nursing home resident's rights. The Fifth District disagreed and held that the Nursing Home Act controls the damages. Id. at 869.

Similarly, <u>University of Miami v. Klein</u>, 603 So. 2d 651 (Fla. 3d DCA), <u>rev. denied</u>, 613 So. 2d 6 (Fla. 1992), held that birth-related neurological injuries that result in post-delivery death are governed exclusively by the Neurological Injury Compensation Plan. <u>See also Ash v. Stella</u>, 457 So. 2d 1377 (Fla. 1984) (holding that the applicable statute of limitations in a medical malpractice action where the medical negligence resulted in death is the medical malpractice statute of limitation and not the wrongful death statute); <u>Arthur v. Unicare Health Facilities</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, 602 So. 2d 596 (Fla. 2d DCA), <u>rev. denied</u>, 613 So. 2d 4 (Fla. 1992) (same).

Defendants' reliance upon <u>Wade v. Alamo Rent-A-Car. Inc.</u>, 510 So. 2d 642 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987), is misplaced. <u>Wade</u> was not a medical malpractice action and contains no discussion of the Medical Malpractice Act or the remedies peculiar to a medical malpractice arbitration. In fact, <u>Wade</u> contains language that supports plaintiffs' argument that the exclusive remedies contained in the Medical Malpractice Act control:

The right to recover damages for a negligently-caused death is entirely a creature of statute. There was no such common law cause of action. Accordingly, we look to the statute alone to discover who can recover and what may be recovered. Section 768.21(4), Florida Statutes (1983), permits each parent of a deceased minor child to "recover for mental pain and suffering from the date of injury."

Wade, 510 So. 2d at 643 (Italics in original; underlining
added).

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